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CHAPTER VII

THE GUERRILLA RESISTANCE MOVEMENT ON PANAY
AND YEIGHBORING ISLANDS
27 November 1944

SECTION: I. GENERAL BACKGROUND:

The history of the guerrillas on Panay 1s unique smong the island
commande in the early and complete establishment of the command and the
continuation of its authority without guestion since. In both military
and civil matters it is probsbly the most extensive and the best example
of a campletely Filipino patriotic effort of all the Fhilippine guerrilla
organizations.

The 61st Philippine Army Division was on Panay when the Japanese
invesion forces landed in 1942, The division had only had five months
training under a few 4merican officers, and was able to offer little
serioue resistance to the Japanese. Gen. CHRISTIE, CG of the 6lst
Division, wae only too aware of the limited Division potential and when
surrender orders were published, he is said to have told Filipino leadere
that so far as he wae concerned the orders did not apply to them. As a
result the Filipinos took to the hille with most. of the Yivieion weapons
and other supplies and equipment. Only the few American officers and a
few Filipinos surrendered.

Some of the outstanding Filipino leaders of the Division, Macario
FERALTA, Division G-8, Leopoldo RELUNIA, Division Engineer, and Julian
CHAVES, CO 34 Battalion, 63d Regiment, were called to Gen CERISTIE's
headquarters before he surreniered. He had them promise that they would
not orgenize guerrillas or guerrilla activity for two months after the
date of surrender.

Inmediately after surrexier PERALTA was in northeast Panay, Braulio
VILLASIS (also 6lst Division) in Capiz, RELUNIA in eastern Pamy, CEAVES
in central Panay, Cririlo GARCIA (also of 6lst Division) in the northwest,
e and Governor GONFESOR, pre-war governor of Iloilo Province, in the south.
Bands of soldiers roamed the island undirected’and independent. Little
organization existed.

The guerrilla organizat on was actvally started in August 1942, ten w
weeks after surrerder. PERALTA was chosen leader or assumed comnand with

the tacit approval of all concerned, and was acknowledged comrandr of the
island almost immediately. Throughout themext four months, former army
pereonnel were reassembled, new recruits taken in and the units of the

6lst P. A. Divieion reactivated into & new 6let Division. By November the
reorganization was cmplete; the Japanese were contained in garrisons

at San Jose (antigae), Capiz town and Iloilo City. Radio contact had been es
established with SWPA in late November 1942, end the morale of the people
and arny was at a high level.
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The initial success of the organization was due largely to the amount
of equipment availabde t0 the guerrillas and the comparatively light Jap-
anese garrieon on the island during 1942, This latter allowed the guerril-
lae freedom of action, ample space and uninterrupted time to organize and
train unite. Except for dieappearance of manufactured and imported items,
1life on Fanay was substantially the eame as it had been before the war.

The divil government under Tomas CONFESCR wae effectively in operation
throughout theisland. Thie early good start gave the organization an im-
petus that has enabled the movement to withstand repeated throuh and ruth-
less Japanese terror raids since.

Late in 1942, PERALTA heard that guerrilla movements were springing
up on Cebu, Negros, etc., and conceived the idea of organizdig a Corps.
TheIVth Fhilippine Corps was therefore activated by PERALTA with himself
in command and RELUSIA then became CO of the 6lat Division. By agreement
with Col FERPIG, GUerrilla commander on Mindanao, the IVth Philippine Corps
was to include Palawan, Panay and the Visayas with the exception of Samar and
Leyte. Palawan, Mindoro and Masbate were too remote and thinly populated
to have been integrated into the Corps br early 1943, tut Negros Occldentel
was well organized and attempts were being made to extend the authority of
the Corps over the Negros Oriental, Cebu and Bohol guerrillas.

In February 1948, FERALTA was officially appointed CO of bhe 6th
Military District only, which included Panay, the Romblons and Guimaras
Island. Prior to the war the Fhilippines had been divided into ten dis-
tricts for the purpose of recruitng army divisions, and GHQ decided to
reactivate these districts in gue:rilla organized areas as the simplest
nesns of establiehing guerrilla comsande and authorities. At the same
time PZRALTA was appointed CO of the .5th, Col W. W. FERTIG was appointed
CO of the 10th Military Yistrict (Mindanao and Sulu) and PERALTA so informed.
PERALTA was also informed that other district commands would be recognized
as information and the situation warranted. This mullified the IVth Philip-
pine Corps.

In December 1942, the Japenese in Iloilo started their first offen-
sive against the guerrill es. The units under CWAVES in southern Iloilo
hed been exceptionally aggressive and a campsign of burnirg, looting and
killing eneued in that area but the Japenese were nto able to break up
this part of the guerrilla orgenization. The people and the army dispersed
into the hills and the Japanese tion of the
area was an empty victory. As soon as ‘he Japanese left, the people returned
and reorganization of thearea commenced. The drive was resumed in south-
ern Iloilo in July 1943 and re:ched to Sara in the northwest by September.
This time the guerrillas suffered a large material loes, especially in Sara
since the latter area had been the dlstrict headquaiters area. The invasion
here was o sudden and the Japanese knowledge of the situation so complete
that much equipment was lost. This did not affect morale and subsequemt
reorganization seriously, however. In Wovember and Ecember 1943, activity
against the guerrillas was again resumed northwards along the east coast,
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attacking the Romblons in December and the Aklan area in northwest Panay

in Janvary to February 1944. Thie wae the most through-going and ruthlessly
destructive campaign of all. Loss of life and civilian property wes ex-
ceptlonally hegvy but this only further embittered the people aganst the
Japanese. The army Teascembled and contnued on slightly decreased effi-
clency and power.

When the IVth Philippine Corps wae abandoned, two complete staffs
were left on Penay: the former Corps etaff under FERALTA, and the Divielon
staff under RELUNUA. These staffs were retained and carried on as the
District and the Division staffe respectively and much looseness and slug-
glshnese of commandfollowéd. The December 1943 to February 1944 Japanese
ralde demonstrated thrinefficiency all to well and alterations inthe command
wvere made at once bv RELUNIA. In place of the Divisional channels to the
regiment, combat teams were orgenized in March 1944, each combat team semi-
autonomous in its own area and controdled by the Division for administra-
tive pruposes only. Thie gave local leaders more authrity and greater
freedom of action, and was planned to Teduce the overhead comrand organi-
zation mecsurably. There are seven of these combat teams at present. The
combat team staffs are given in Part III and the areas of the combat team
commands are shown on map following page. As part of tho “eorganizatiou,
tae control of intelligence orzanization was separated from the combat
commands. The 5-2 unite were liaison to combat units but for overall intelli-
gence purposes reported independently through intelligence ehelon channels 0
the district intelligence section.

SECTION II. The PRESENT GUERRILLA SITUATION:

PERALTA: Col Macariof PERALTA 1s a Filipino 30 years o0ld, graduate
of the University of the Fhilippines, law and FOTC, 1935. He took a
course at the Fhilippine Army special school in Bag\do and is regular
Army officer. In 1941 he was 0-3 of the 6lst Division on Panay but has
had no combat experierce. It is believed he was a Captain before surrender;
and he wes promoted by GHQ to Lt Col 13 January 1243 and Colonel 6 August
1943. He was appointed CO of the 6th Military District 15 Bebruary 1943.
People who have lmown him report that he is a strong character, a good
orcanizer, agsressive, sure of himself to the point of being cocky, and a
strong nationalist. He tends to be impetuous, lacks experience, is on
occasion arbitrary and sometimes lacks follow-up on his ideas. He wants
the Panay guerrilla organization to be a purely Filipino accomplishment.
Americans who were left free on Panay after the USAFFE surrender were used by
the Army to help build up the organization while those who could not con-
tribute wer: cared for but tolerated as though they were not wanted.
PIRALTA Temains mostly in the mounteins with a minumum staff and has very
little c ontact with his troops. He has maitained undisputed leadership
of the 6th Military Districts since 1942 but is probably more respected
for his force than he is 1ved by the people who serve under him. FERALTA,
RELUNIA, Cirilo GARCIA, JURADO, GUARINIA, etc., are Tagalog (central Luzon
peoples) by bith. Being outsiders on Panay, as it were, has enabled these

tai certai: unt of objectivit their work. The:
eaders Jo,T91ateln B.SoTtaln SRoTRt ST 00 eS ATty 1 Btins Thpa ogs any
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in permanent positions on Panay, has aroused some jealsousy on the part of
Visayan leaders, but PERALTA has endeavored to deal farily with the
situation.

Organization: From the beginning PERALTA has exhibited a strong
desire to bring a large area under his command, to extend his influence as
wedely as possible, and to set up an intelligence system that would give
hin complete detailed coverzge. First he ascumed leadership of the Fanay
forcee and welded together an articulateiorganization. Then he planned
an orgenization which would comprehend and coordinate all the Visayan guer-
rillas - the IVth Philippide Corps. The decision of GEQ to Teestablish
the military Districts as guerrilla command areas vitiated these plans.

PERALTA hed, in the meantime, established contacts with guerrilla
leaders on Negros, Leyte and Samar. He did not relinquish these contacts
but developed and backed the organizations involved, hoping tozaseist these
leaders to become island commanders indebted to him. On Negros, 7th MD,
Lealvador AVCEDE was commanding a unit under the influence of PERALTA.

After the dissoulution of the Corps, PERALTA immediately backed ABCEDE as
7th MD commander. On Leybe, in the 9th MD, Blas MIRANDA was encouraged to
Tesist tle efforts of Col KANGLEON to unify the island under his command.
Bloodshed resulted and the appointment of a commander on Leyte was delayed
considerably. 4 similar situation eventuated on Samar though not as violent.

PERALTA's activities in the Vieayas conflicted with those of other
strong leaders. He nevertheless maintained his contacte and the flow of
intelligence. Only Cebu and Mindanao defied his attempts to gain contacts
and a foothold. To the north in Masbate, Marindugue and Mindoro and west
of Palawan FERALTA met no opposition or competition. He had undisputed
freedom of action in these islands but because Of the number of small
leaders on these islands the activities of the Faray command bdecame involved
in local politics. Shifting support, failure to throughly examine facts in
disputes and the resultant hasty decisions, often by junior and inexperienced
officers, have agsravated the loal political situation on these islands.

Thig is treated more fully in SECTICN V. At present FERALTA appears to be
still attempting to establish his authority and hae remained until recently
the sole source of intelligence on these areas and their sole encouragement a
and source of supplies., FERALTA has asked repeatedly for recognition of his
authority andhes remained until recently the sole source of intelligence

on these areas and their sole encouragement and source of supplies.

PERALTA has asked repeatedly for recognition of his authority in these areas
and failing receive any answer at all has continued hie attempts to organize
them ‘ndependently (see SECTION V).

FERALTA has also attempted to extencd his influence into Luzon.
Regardless of loss of equipment and personnel, FERALTA has sent parties
and radios repeatedly to southern Luzon and the intervening islands. fhe
Masbate redio has only been Tecently established. Several radiofie have
been lost in attempting to establish positions on Mindoro to the northwest
of Panay, but it is not certain that the 6th MD hae yet succeeded in deve-
loping Tadio contacts on Luzon itself. In the meantime efforte have been
linited only by the amount of supplies available.
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One of the puwposes of this expaneion of influence vas development
of intelligence coverage. Thus, PERALTA's activity explains iteelf
somewhat in terms of more than sheer ambiti on.

The home front has not been entirely without fault. In spite of
efforts to curb the compadre system, it is still rampant, especially in
the accounting and supply system. The compadre syetem is an inetltution
which allows members of families to aseist each other and branches of the
family by providing jobs and supplies, etc., at the expense of the organi-
zation. “upplies sent from SWPA arve reported to have appeared in quantity
on the balck market and seldom reach the needy or those for whom the sup-
plies were intended.

PERALTA has shown repeatedlv his ability bo slter plans and organization
to meet changed conditions. He tried martial law to maintain law and order
on Panay in 1942. He started organization of a “orpe, and when this was
nullified diverted hie efforte to the establishment of a shvhere of fréendly
comanders around him and the development of a comprehenstve intelligence
net. Without encouragement he has been godfather to emall otherwise unrepre-
sented guerrille orsanizations on other islands. On Paray, itself, when
his district-division-regiment organization demonstrated its inefficiency
he reorganized the entire command immediately.

At the same time a good deal of this flexibility of organization and
plans has been directed towards a policy of self aggrandizement at all
0dds and under any conditions. The poesibility of utilizing to advantage
existing orgenizations and persons in authority has often been disregarded
or neglécted in the urge to establish his own authority. This is particu-
larly evident in his dealings with the Masbate, Mindoro and Palawan guer-
rillas (see SECTION V) and his relations with the civil government on
Panay.

Intelligence: The products of FERALTA's intelligence network have
been vastly detailed and exceptionally voluminous. Monthly reports
are prepared from acheduled courler runs fm the entire network. These
Teports include enemy strengths and movement of even individual Japanese
eoldiers, enehy i:stallations, supply aress, communications, etc. The
ability of the agents to secure information is unlimited and their
patience in preparing reporte on these detaile seems bottomless. The
actual result of these lators has been considerably hampered by want of

appreciation of sources and types of intelligence desired. Carefully
worded radio directions and printed iselligence guides have raised the
level of PERALTA's intelligence activities.

Pedro SERBAN, FERALTA's Intelligence Officer, from 1942 until

probubly early 1944, laid the forndatione of the network. He is about

26 years old, gradvate of the University of Fhilippines in law and ves

2 Lt. in the Intelligence Section of the 6lst Divieion on ‘anay before
surrender. Foople who have lnown him report that he has a strong desire
for personal golrr, is a little heady with his guerrilla renk of Lt Col
and his position on the lsland., There is good indication that his reports
are reliable but that his sources are loosely organized and developed, and
that 1ittle effort is being made to keep the financial accounts of the
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intelligence section, In his efforte to expand intelligence sources, SERIAN
has mixed in local politics to some extent. His Ik of experience and

some hasty and ili-considered judgments have confused command and political
matters in sevral localities. Since the reorganization of the command in
February 1944, SERRAN has been GO of the 2d Combat Team and Maj Frederico
SALCEDO 1s new the District Intelligence Officer.

Panay intelligence now seems to be dargely a matter of special units
attached to cmbat teans which funnel repprte through the district head-
quarters from SWPA. Iuzon intelligence penetration has been divided into
two sections, one into southwest Luzon via the 2d Combat Team and Masbate
the other into southwest Luzon via the lst Combat eam and Mindoro. The
intelligence echelon of the 2d Combat Team is under Capt Zlejandro P.
HONTIVFEOS. HONTIVEROS is about 25 years old, graduate of the Ateneo de
Manila College and enjoys a good reuputation among his men. He edits
Teports coming from Luzon agents and forwards them through the districts
headquarters to SWPA. There are recent indications of rebellion against
FERALTA's authority on Masbate. Whether this has hd any effect in the
functioning ofintelligence net is not kmown.

The southwest approach to Luzon was under Lt Col *nrigue JURADO.
JURLDO was former Chief of the Offshore Patrol, Philippine Amy. He had
ability but did not get along well with people end wes recently killed in
a dispute with guerrillas in central eastern Mindoro. His headquarters
was located on the eastern coast of Mindoro and forwarded intelligence through
the lst Combat Teams to the district headquarters. The effect of his death
on the intelligence system is not known yvet. Some details of these two nets
are described in SECTION VI.

Combat: The efficiency of the cmbat side of the organization has
been much vaunted. The units have engaged in frequent ambushes but they have
not particirated in pitched battles with the enemy. Bather the guerrillas
bave scattered into the Hlls on the approach of a large force, leaving the
civilians unprotedted and at the mercy of the Japenese. This has not
helped relaticns with the civilians but has re eined the army almost intact
The army lives off the land, securing sup;lies locally by commandeering
or purchase, and often their local activities hve aleo aroused the animosity
of the civilians.

Paray guerrilla strength, including Mesbete wes approximately
350 tone of supplies, but no trained personnel other than weather observers
have been sent to Pawsy.

Besidee gra 't and sometimes strained relations with thecivilians
the compedre sytem by increasing overhead perconnel and depleting supplies
sericusly has further reduced the effectiveness of the organization, des-
troyed discipline almost entirely and at times immobilized the army. The
arny discipline is further limited by lack of good, st-ong leaders right down
the line. There are several outstanding leaders as FELUNIA, CEAVES. and
GRASPARIL but t’ey lack men under them to follow up their lead and enforce
discipline among the men.

The potential of the army remais gocd. The morale Of the men has been
kept up by local successes, tne general war situation and the support
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given them by SWPA. The men are eager to serve their country, wenting
only adequate training, leadership and guidance. It must be remembered
that this organization has been built up from the remnants 14 of a
partially trained divieion, and without outside assistance except for supd
plies. The Achievement of thic army then becomes remarkable.

At present the guerrillae are endeavoring to hold the Jepanese into
their garrisons at San Jose (Antique), Senta Barbara, Iloilo City and
Cepiz town. To date the Japanese have actually vithdrawn from most oute
lying posts and are more or less condined to their garrisons mentioned above.
SECTION III. DISTRICT AND CCMBAT TEAM STAFFS:

Headqu: rters, 6th Military District:

East Cenral Antique Hegdquarters (First Hchelon):

District Commander Col Macario PERALTA, PA
Bcecutive Officer & C/S Lt Col Leopoldo R. RELUNIA, PA
Adjutent Lt Col F MONTINOLA
G-1 Maj Cele stino § MONROY

6-2 6-2 YMaj Frederico L SALOEDO
Signal Officer Lt Col imos M, FRANCIA, PA

Zastern Panay Headquarters (Second Echelon)
Comuending Officer Lt Col Leopoldo R RELUNIA, PA
(2D in command, Penay)

Executive 0fficer YMaj Eriberto T. CASTILLON
Asst Executive Officer Lt Col JULIAN C, CHAVES, PA
District Q4 Lt Col Williem F. GENPERLE

(Now In Austrelia)
Total Headquarters strength is 25 officers nd 222 EM.

The first Echelon is » small group with Col PERALTA. This echelon
devotes its time generally to policy and outside relationships. The
Second Echelon is the tactical headquartes on Panay, with all service
units, etc., attached to it.

HELUNIA: Gradugte of the University of the Philippines, 1935,
Duty on Penay in November 1941, as 6lst Division Englneer.

Strong, aggresseive, fearless personality, maintains personal comtacts
with troops and operated in forvard aress. Responsible for reorganization
of 6lst Division in March 1944. Demende orders be followed and takes
strong action against non-compliance or makirg false reports,

Yo personal or nationalistic desires, spends all time possitle on
training and keeping organizaton intect for final aasault on the Japanese,
Well liked by hie officers and men. Reported by evacuecs to bv the brain
andbackbone of the 6th MD,

Fresent duties, Executive Officer and Chief of Stafs, Hg, tth Mp,

MONTINOLA: Lt Col, AG, was in FC before the war, has seen action
against Moros in Mindenao; was captain, PA, at time of surrender,
Present dutles, BASAMAGAIGIEIGRR AdJutent. Sth 1
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FRAICIA: Lt Col, formerly aesigned to ground communications, 64th Regiment
Evacuees report him to be a poor organizer and thatequipment has been lost
frequenly Decause of improper h miling and security measures.

Present duties, District Signal Officer.
5

CASTILLON: Maj, was acting CO, 66th Infentry Regiment; had 3 years ROTC
Fational University of Manila and has been reported to be dependable.

HAVES: Formerly PA reserve officer and school eupervisor, Calinog,
Iloilo before the var, He wae Commanding Officer, 3d Battalion, 63d
Regiment, 6lst Division, which was the only battalion to offer resistance
to initial Japenesc landing on Panay. He is reported to be pro-American,
blunt, outspoken, and one of the best officers in Panay: desired no
personal glory.

Present duties, Assitant Executive Officer, Headquarters, 6th MD; and Co
Commanding Officer, 63d Combat Team.

E : 46 year old native of Switzerland, now citizen of the

Fhilippines. Lt Col in both USAFFE and guerrilla forces. Before the war

was Fresident of Surigeo Coneolidated Mines (gold) and Manager of Koppel

& Co., Iloilo branch. Reputation very high in Panay and he can be trueted
Present position, head of QM andFD. (now in Kustralia).

First Combat Team, Northwest Panay:
Headquarters, Liberatad, 4ntique:

Commanding Officer
Executive Officer
Adjutent S-1

5-2

5-3

5-4

*Serial numbers beginning with
by "d" are probably guerrilla serial
of this.

Tiret Combat
known companies:

" Co
Go
Co
co

Tean composed of c

Comnanding Cfficer
Commanding Officer
Comnanding Officer
Conmanding Officer
Executive Officer

nEn
nin
ngn

Attached Units:
Romblon, Marindugue, Mindo
Strengths
Arma:
Anmani tion:

GARCIA:

Lt Col Cirilo B. GARCIA, 0-1454, PA
Capt H. V. RUIZ, 60010%

2d Lt Torribio CEESFO, 6-888253, AUS
Capt Peter A. GARRUCHO, 8)Q24*

Capt P. M. VAP, 0-1645, Pi

Capt Jose P. LAYO

"6 but SBREMEILELEDLEE not preceded
numbers but there is no confirmation.

ompanies instead of Battalions; the

1st Lt L HABLERO
Capt ESTICKO

Capt VILLASUR

Capt Silverio CADIAO
3d Lt Pelope ESTORES

ro, Pelavan. (See Section V)

132 Officers and 2,166 B
2,000 of all tvpes
151,000 rounds

Lt Col in guerrilla forces and CU of the First Combat
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Team, and is responsible for submarine rendezvous arcas. He 1s Tagalog by
birth, Before the war he was reported to be Captain in the Philiprine Army:
formerly Llaison Officer, 41st Division, Teyabas. Arrived on Panay from
Bataan in February 1942. Heis strict, unafraid, tactless and not generally
liked by the Filipinos; he is ambitious, jealous ofhis authority and would
not cooperate with Americans who escaped capture on Panay in 1942 and were
under FERALTA's comnand, One report states GARCIA hed organized a powerful
guerrilla band in northwest Panay before PERALTA became acknowledged commander
of the island, end because of this power he mainteins considereble independence
under PERALTA's comnard. Eis character does not seem to be above reproach.
There have been many reports of misappropriation of supplies received from
SWPA by submarine and in one instance, 30 tons of supplies were lost due to
PooT orgenization and planning for the shipment.

Second Combat Team, Northeastern Panay and Masbate:
Headquarters, Amayong, San Dionisio, Iloilo:

Connanding Officer Lt Col Pedro SEREAN, PA
Executive Officer Capt Jose R PORTUS, 60015
Adjutent & S-1 24 Lt Saneho Y INSERTO, 62447
5-2 1st Lt Roberto HINGLAN, 60080
5-3 Capt Rogelio L ARANADOR

S-4 2D Lt Lucio P MENDOZA

Firet Battalion, 4lapasco, San Dionisio, Iloilo:
Commanding Officer Capt Leon GAMBOA, 62048

Second Battalion, Tagaytay, Masbate: (See Section V for
further information)

Conmanding Officer Maj Vicente 4 TANSIONGCO
Executive Officer Capt Manuel DOFATO, PA
s-2 1st Lt Resurrecion ORTIGAS
$-2 1st Lt Clemente V BAJAR
53 1st Lt Vito ZARAGOSA
5-4 1st Lt Felifranco AVENIDO
Intelligence Echelon:
Commanding Officer Capt Alejendro P HONTIVEROS, 60141
Strength: Officers M
Headquarters 24 251
1st Bn 22 a85
2d Bn (Masbate) 59 943
Miscellaneous 43 485
Totd 148 2,035

The second Conbat Tean hae been combined with the 64th Combat Team,
Masbate now being independent. <
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Third Combat Team, West Oentral Iloilo Province:
Headquarters:
Comnanding Officer Maj P. B. OSMANP
Executive Officer Capt Salvador BAGUAY
Adjutant Capt Sofronio ERASILAO, 62110
5-2 2D Lt Leon GELIADA, 62457
5-3 1st Lt Avelino E DAMIAN
S-¢ 3D Lt Diosdadio C CHAVES
Strength: (4 companies) 78 Officers, 1,340 EM
Arms: 814 of all types
Ammuni t1onst 85,000 rounds

63D Combat Team, Southern Iloilo Province:
Headquarters, Mt Tigatay Area, Iloilo Frovince:

Commanding Officer Lt Col Julian C CHAVES, PA
Executive Officer Maj A CORNELIO
Adjutant Maj Pablo J BRILLANTES
5-2 Capt Fatricio M MIGUSL, 63260
5-8 Capt Isauro OCTAVIANO
5-4 Capt Antonio A ALIGAN
First Battqlion:
Commanding Officer Maj Francieco OFFEMARIA, PA
Execntive Officer Capt Reynaldo SORONGAN
5-2 2D Lt Napoleon GOTICO
5-8 lst Lt 4 P o
5-4 1st Lt Salvador ELICANOL
Second Battalion, Maasin, Iloilo Province:
Conzanding Officer Capt Brmesto P GOLEZ
Executive Officer Capt Primo DOREGA
5-2 1st Lt Jose V AVENTINO
5-3 2D Lt Bugenio SIRUIGA
S-4 2D Lt B A GRIO
Third Battalion:
Commanding Officer Yaj Epifanio CABALFIN, 62037
£xecutive Officer lst Lt P SAAVEDRA
5-2 1st Lt Manuel P GOLEZ
5-8 2D 1t @ 6 GENGUYON
5-4 1st Lt Teodoro CLARIN
Strength Officers M
Headquarters 45 611
1st Bn 32 681
2D Ba 29 550
3D Ba 35 781
Miscellaneous _49 685
Total 120 3,258
Arns: 1,400 of &ll types
Ammuni t1ons 37,000 rounds

CEFERARIAALLE
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OFFEMARIA: Major, formerly Lt FC and Executive Officer to CHAVES.
One of the best fighters on the island and keeps above politics and
personal ambition in the prosecution of the var and seems to have lost
some favor with FERALTA ae a result of his cmplaints about political

activities of the 6th 4D,
Present duties, pos
Battalion, 3D Combat Team.

bly Inspector Genersl of the 6th MD, or CO, 1lst

B4th Combat Team, Bast Central Iloilo and Capiz Frovince:

Headquarters:
Comnanding Officer
Executive Officef
Ad jutant
5-2
5-4

-~ Company:
Comranding Officer
Executive Officer

-~ Company:
Comrandng Officer
Executive Officer

§-2

-~ Company:
Commanding Officer
s-2

Lt Col Leopoldo RELUNIA, PA
Maj Tomas C LOPEZ

Capt Jose L CASTIGADOR

Cept Doningo R MALE

Maj Pedro Y Yatar, 62012

Cept Mariano ROELES
Capt Fidel D DE 4SIS

Maj Pedro Y Yatar

Jose B BA
2D Lt Bautista P SIACTOIG

Maj Inocencio FATIARIA
1st Lt Pedro ORTEGAS

Strength of the 64th Combet Team 282 officers and 4,055 enlisted men;
armament, unkmown. Little information has been received from or about the

area.

65th Comb-t Team, Southern Antique Province and Palawan:
Headguarters, Lanaon, Antique:

Commanding Officer
Executive Officer
Adjutant

5-2

8-3

$-4

Lt Col Braulio F VILTASIS, 6-1373, Fa
Maj Marcial CAPINFIN, 62010

Capt Gil M MIJARES, 62101

Capt Ireneo H JAMORA, 62226

2D Lt Cornelio P RAVENA, 2523

Capt Joaquin V ORBEGOSO, 62167

First Bpttalion, Tibuao, Antiques

Commanding Officer
Executive Officer
5-2

=

5-4

Capt Felipe APAS, 62071
Capt Luis U GOLEZ, 62116
1st Lt Benjamin M VALENTE, 62464

8D Lt Manuel MEFENAA

Second Battalion, San Remiglo, Antique:

Commanding Cfficer
Executive Officer

Maj Adriano SAMULDE, 62035
Cept Gabriel CHECA, 62843
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5-2 2D Lt Vicente R ACSAY
5-3 2D Lt Gregorio L ATAVA, 62382
Third Battalion, Barbaea, “ntique:
Conmanding Officer Maj Ceferino S CARREON, 0-1791
Executiva Officer 1st Lt Roberto CARBONELLA, 2161
s-2 2D Lt Bariyes O NACIONALES
5-3 3D Lt Jose CABALLERO, 62566
5-4 2D Lt Conrade L METES, 62674
Strenght; Officers 4
Headquarters a8 369
1st Bn 20 351
2D Bn 26 445
3D Bn 30 539
Miscellaneous 25 367
Total 159 2,075

1,000 of all types
333,000 rounds

LLASIS: Was Lt FC, good roganizer and soldier but believed by his
subo rdinates to be jittery and thinks the Japs supermen.
Present duties, Executive Officer, 65th Combat Team.

CAPINFIN: Major, son of Gen CAPINPIN, reported to be a good fighter
but very youns. Formerly stetirned at Ft Mckinley.
Present dutkes, Executive Officer, 65th Combat Team.

66th Combat Team, Northern and Western Capiz Frov ince:
eadquarters:
Commanding Officer Lt Col V V GRASFARIL, 62002
Executive Officer Maj Gumaliel MANIKAN
5-2 1st Lt G RIZALINO, 62426

First Battalion:
Commanding Officer  £4HL3600A%NAGEANERRAO Vaj Doteben ARAVADA
Executive Officer  Capt Dumalao L PANTALEON
5-3 3D Lt Leopoldo BRRNALES

Second Battalion:
Commanding Officer Capt Jesus M JIZMUNDO
Executive Officer let Lt Jose M F BELLO
5-2 1st Lt Dominddor FERNANDEZ

Third Battalion:
Commanding Officer Maj Samuel CFLAGATA, 62021
Executive Officer Capt Cirilo HORTILLOSA

§-2 3D Lt Marfano MALICUDIO
Strength: 192 officers; 3,321 enlisted men
ATms 800 of all types (June 1944)

Ammunition 160,000 rounds (June 1944)
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GRASPARIL: Pre-var Sg FC, who organized an independent guerrilla

band in Antique in August 1942, joined FERALTA's command and then appointed
GO 66th Regt. Reported to be brnve tough fighter, pro-americen end a friendly
porsonality. Present duties, CO, 66th Combat Team.

Total Personnel
OFF

SUMVARY Ly iy
6th MD Eq Col Macario PERALTA, PA 25 222
1st Combat Team CO Lt Col Cirilo B GARCIA, PA 132 2,166
2D Combat Team CO Lt Col Pedro SERRAN, PA 148 2,035
2D Combat Team CO Maj PB OSMAN 73 1,340

63D Combat Team CO Lt Col Julian C CEAVES, PA 196 3,258
64th Combat Team CO LT Col Leopoldo RELUNIA, PA 282 4,055
65th Combat Team CO Lt Col Braulio F VILLASIS, PA 139 2,075
66th Combat Team (O Lt Col V V GRASPARIL, FPA 192 3,321

The above figures are dated September - October 1944

4s of the end of October 1944 the 6th MD reported having the
following arms and ammunition:

ARNS AMMUNITION

81 mm mortars 8lmm mortars 449
Cal 50 Mo (msemceabls)lo Cal 50 MG 3,194
Cal 30 Mo Cal 30 M 188,519
Cal 45 TSMG s Japanese Sesnhe 7
BAR & MR, Cal 30 156  Cal 45 34,560
Japanese mortars 2 Cal 80 Engield 252,900
Japanese MR, Cal 25 2  Cel 25 1,457
Cal 30 Rbg4Ar&&Carbine 2872 Shotgun 6,495
Cal 80 Enfields 3,012  sidearnms 1,086
Cal 30 MI Garand 21 hand grenades 2,431
Cal 30 Springfield 7  Rifle grenades a2
Cal 25 Jap Rifles 80  Cal 30, MI 271,040
Cal 22 Rifles 14

Shotguns 7

Sidearms (var Cal) 501
Cal 25 Japanese MG 1
77mm Gun 2

Arms sent by SWPA were mainly carbines, assorted machine mns, tommy
guns, a few mortare, etc. ZEarly in November 1944 reserved stocks of ammu-
nitions were being expended freely and ammuni‘ion stocks as glven above
have probably been congiderably reduced.

SECTION IV. THE CIVIL GOVERNMENT ON FREE PANAY:

Panay 1s divided into three provinces, Antigue, Cepiz and Iloilo,
each with o separate governor before the war. After the Japanese invesion,
the governors of Antique and Caplz Tomas CONFESCR
of Iloilo, refused t o surrender and went to the hills with the guerrillas.
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In early 1943 he was officially recognized as Governor of Panay and the
Romblons.

CONFESOR is 45-60 years of age, native of Iloilo Province and active in
government affeirs for many years. He is impetuous and wae known as the
“storny petTel" of Philippine politice because of this trait alome. Since
1942, he has mainteined a free government on Panay without compromise to
the guerrilla army, even under considerable pressure. Eis suprort of the
democratic casue hae become a password in Filipino minds. In January 1943,
Fernin CARAN, puppet governor of Iloilo, wrote CONFESOR a long letter in
which he polnted out that resistence and hardship were foolieh and necdless.
CONFESOR's long reply wes reproduced end circulated widely in Manila:

. . I fimgy believe that it is not wise end statemanly for our
lasdera, in this their darkest hour, to teach owr people to avald
eufferings and hardships at the sacrifice of fundemental principles
of govenment and the democratic way of life. On the contrary, it is
Their bounden duty and responsibi ity to inspire our people to will-
1ingly undergo any kind of difficulties and sacrifices for the sake of
noble principles,
£82688 that they nourish deep in their hearts, Instead 0f depreesing
their patriotic ardor, the people should be inspired to be brave and
courageous under all kinds of hardshipe and difficulties in defense
of what they consider righteous and just. We shall never win or de-
serve the esteem and respect of other nations if we lack principles,
and if we 0, we donot possess the courage and valour to defend those
principles at any cost . . . "

His resistance and continued freedom have been an inspiration to the
people of Panay. His popularity has sent the Japanese hrnting on numerous
campaigns to capture him. That they have not succeeded has been & further
encouragement to the people to resist the Japanese.

CONFESCE was in southern Iloilo during most of 1942. He reorganized
th e civil government there and apparently was responsible for restoring
most of the functions of civil government throughout Panay at that time.
He has always kept a radio and ddistributed news to the people and since
comunications were slow, deputy governors have been appointed with full
power to administer their respective areas. The reorganization was complete b
by Bte 1942.

As soon as reorganization commenced, the army and the civil govern-
ment began competing for recruite, arme and supplies. The civil govern-
ment maintained a local police force and messenger service known as the
Provincial Guards. CONFESOR sef about reorganizing this body in mid-1942.
This rivelry opened a controversy between the army and the civil govern-
ment that has underlain all disputes since. FERALTA 1s young and strong
headed; CONFESOR set and impetuous; and neither has conceded a point to
the other since the dispute began. Both are equally to blame for the
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prolongation of the controversy, Other subjects of diepute were martial
law proposed by PERALTA in 1942, and the printing of money.

The Provi-clal Guards hve been a constant bone of contention with
PERALTA. The guarde are armed and they represented a potential threat
0 his organization, FERALTA hao several times claime that the guards
were not required since the army did the policing. He claimed that
employment of personnel in the guards lescendd the effective potential
strength of the army and of the organization producin- for the army.
CONFESOR has nonetheless maintained the guarde and several times has owed
his life to their activity againet approaching ememy patrols.

Recruiting pereonnel for the guards, guarding againet infaltion, amy
comnandeering, guarding Tights of the people, printing moriey and mantenance
of an amed force outside the amy are the main issues of the dispute. Other
issuee have arisen montly as a result of animosity already created. GONFESOR
hes maintained his position without thought of compromise even when a concession
would have been beneficial.

CONFESOR has also championed the righte of the people against tho
inroads of the army, has championed them when the ammy did them wrotig,
and hae attempted to organize food and aupply programs to satiefy the de-
mands of the peojle and the army. The civil government has transported
food from thegrower to the nearest army units Money has been advanced
for the development Of crops. Taxes 1ave been collected by local civil
treasurers and 3/4 of the proceeds turned over to the army.

SECTION V. HISTORY AND DEVELOFMENT OF INFLUENCE ON MASBATE, MARINDUQUE,
RCMBLONS, MINDORO, AND PALAWAN:

Masbate:

Inforzation on Masbate has come largely from Col PERALTA on PAVAY
who controls the island, and may be blased. There were three guerrilla
groupe originally, led by ROSEL, Capt DOFATO and Capt VILLAOJADA.
DONATO was & Lt in the USAFFE and founded his orgenization in October 1942,
The leaders of the three groups combined into a bat talion. ILater VILTAOJADA
seems t0 have become powerful and overthrown DONATO's cntrol and then
TANSIOFGCO was sent from Panay by PERALTA in July 1943 to install himself
as the island commander. ROSEL hae not been heard of for some time.

The VILLAOJADA group of "The army of the Free People', as it was
called, was located rainly in the Milagros ares and the penineula to the
southvest and was reported 40 have been a bandit army outfit of about 400
half-a:med civilians with a socialistic civil government under the leader-
ship of Juan VILLAOJADA. Iater when the organization was dispersed,
VILLAOJADA 1s said to have fled to Luzon to seek help from a parent com-
munistic society. It appears tha’ "bandit" refugees from Samar and Capiz
Erovince, Panay, together with citigens of Masbate formed the membership
of the group. By mid-1942 VILIAOJADA seems to have been influencing or
contrilling most of the guerrilla activity on the ieland and was definitely
anti-6th MD, and is reported to have received cooperation from the BC's
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He took from the wealthy and gave to the poor, eepediall y cattle and land,
and controlled all eaildoat communications on the south coast. He also
printed more than 10,000 paper money., This money was forced on the people
and the Fhilippine Treacury Notes received in exchange are aald t0 have
amounted to F6,225 which VIILAOJADA is Teported to have kept himself.

Three brothers were the backbone of the unit, Juan VILLAOJADA, leading,
and the two other brothers leading two of the five emaller groups operabing
under VILLAOJADA. The brothers were actually Jesus, Mariano and Ieaac
AZACARRA BUt went under the aseumed names of Capt Juan VILTAOJADA, Lt Roland
BUSTAMANTE and Lt Nicolas FERMIN respectively. The total strength of the
guerrilla unit wae reported to have been 400 with about 60-70 arms.

TANSIONGCO came from Pamay in July 1943 to establish 6th MD AUTHORITY
on Mgsbate with a Composite Company which was to include guerrilla forces
to be organized. The company, under the commend of Capt. Leon GAMPOA,
left Penay in September 1943 with 130 men, end landed on SW Masbcte. Between
September and November, TANSICNGCO reorgenized hie acettered men and then
attached them to the Composite Companv. Cept GAMBOA eplit the compeny Into
three groupe and the parties proceeded north along the panineula m the
Milagroe area, destroying VILLAOJADA's boats, killing and capturin
VILIACJADA's officere .nd men as they went. By February 1944, the “rtrtaonina
brothers and & small group retreated to the hills north of Milagros. Juen
then fled to Luzon and was captured with hie son, Estaclito SANTIAGO (alias)
end reported killed by the Japanese in Lucena, Tayabas. The others brothers
were killed on Mesbate shortfly after. The Panay elemente of the Composite
Company then returned to Panay leaving Masbate under command of TANSIONGC
and the 6th MD,

PIRALTA assigned Masbate to the 2d Combat Team on northeastern Faney
under Lt Col Pedro SERRAN, This team wae composed of two battalione of
which Magbate ves the second. The organization and personrel of the
Mastate Battalion in March 1944 1s ae follsws:

Headquarters, Tagavtay, Masbati

Comnanding Officer laj Vicente A Ts"lﬁ‘longco
Executive Officer Capt Vanuel DO
5-1 1st Lt Henurreccion ORTIGAS
5~z lst Lt Clemente V BAJAR
5-3 1st Lt Vito SARAGOSA
54 | st Lt Felifranco AVENIDO
"EY Company, Southemstern Masbate:
Commanding Officer Capt Tomas MEDINA
"F" Company, Central Masbate and Ticao Island:
Commending Officer Lt Wilfredo 5 BANAAS
"0" Company, Northwest Nastate axd Burlas Island:
Compangting Officer Lt ¥elix SALVACION
"HY Company, Southwestemn Magbate:
Commanding Officer Cept Francisco YUSON (Aleo CO,

Maebate Yoncentration Camp)

In August 1944, the strength of the 2D Bn, 2D Combat Team, wae 59
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officers and 943 enl‘ned men,

It wae important to FERALTA to have Masbate under his control. For
intelligence purposes in southeastern Luzon and the eastern Visayas,
Yasbate was & vitel link, With TANSIONGCO in command, weekly courier hag
been operating between the Bicols, Semar, Lerte, Masbate and Fanay. In
mid-1944, a radio wae established, prodably in the vicinity of the Betta-
1ion Headquartere to speed up flow of intelligencethrough Magbete, FERALTA
wae never officially authrized to mssume command of Masbate nor has
official dispprovelbeen voiced. No other guerrilla leader has taken an
interest in the area and FERALTA hae acted in his own interests and hae
undieputed cantrol over the area. 5

On 28 January 1944, TANSIONGCO and seversl of his leaders, including
GAMBOA from Fanay, met Masbate puppet government officiale and represen—
tative fron Bés the Jap gaTrison endmade an
agreement that the Japanese and the BC would have complete freedom of move-
ment between garrisons whifle the guerrillas would have freedom of movement
within the garrisone, This agreement wae to hold until VILLAOJADA was
liguidated, when there would be a new anference; other reporte indicate
that TANSIONGCO would then surrender to the Japanese. This ig an interee-
ting eldelight on the enemy pacificationprogram. It likewlse showe the
weaimess of Masbate guerril as.

In early 1944, Maj LAFUS, a guerrilla leader in Sorsogon, fled to
Ticao Ieland as a result of a dispute with a rival leader there, Shortly
after, in April 1944, a Japancse patrol went to Ticao Ieland possibly 5o
Capture LAFUS and and his follewers. LAFUS, as vwell as a coastwatcher party
on Tcao Island moved to Masbate to escape the Japanese patrol. The
Japanese patrol continued to Nasbate, LAPUS escaped, end hae eince apparently
Teturned to Soreogon. The Japanese patrol surprised the comstwatcher
party, however, and captured on of the party members, Armando SANTIAGO,
and gome of the equipment, and diepersed theoher membere of the parby.
Some of the equipment wae saved by Lt ABAN of the Maebate guerrillas and
used by him.

The same SANTIAGO isreported to hve promisedCapt DONATO suprliee snd
GHQ recognition as island commander. DONATO undoubtedly retained a grudge
for having been supplanted as leeder by TANSIONGCO. Hehad further had
previous negotiations with Capt ZABAT in the Bicols over the matter of
Vasbate comrand. DONATO gathered hie men togther in July 1944 end drew
up a declaration, separating them from the 6th MD and TANSIONGCOSs command.
Guerrilla ectivities since contime under DOYATO, BCS8 and Reserviste joined
thés group, civiliane were inducted, and DONATO claime that in October
1944 his Masbate Battallon became a Regiment and a free civil government
established. Both are independent of PERALTA's influence. TANSIONGCO is now
on Panay with guerrillas there and Masbate is no longer part of the 6th
Mp organi,ation.

MARINDUQUE:
When the apanese landed on Marfndugue on 7 July 1942, Lt Sofronio
B
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T UNTALAN, the PC comm.nder at Roac, went to the hills with his men.

He surrenered to the Japanese shorthly eftervards and left the island

20 July 1942. Sgt Charles H HICKOK (American radio technician) was on
the island at the time of surrexer andin September 1942 organized the
loyal Filipinos into a guerrilla band of about 30 men. About November
1942, contact was made with FERALTA, Commander of the Gth MD, who sent
instructions on orgenization and intelligence and later sent Filipino officers,
among whon was Capt 4 CUDILLA, to take command., HICKOK left in February
1943 and went to Tablas Island with the intelligence center there. He
returned to Marinduque in April 1943 at the request of Lt Col JURADO to
organize ‘he guerrilla organization, Lt Col Enrque JURADO wae then Rom-
blons commander and FERALTA's Luzon intelligence penetration chief, He
vae anxlous to improve the Marindugue situatioh eo that step-overs could
. be arranged for azents coming to and from Luzon end Panay.

When EICKOK returned to Marindugue, he found that UNTALAY had left the
Japanese and returned to thehills. He had probably seen PERALTAIn the mean-
time, snce he claimed on January 1943 to be CO M Company, 60 th Inf
1¥ Fhilippine Corpe and wae made Captain, February 1343 o He made trouble
and HICKOK left after a short stay. UNTALAN ie st111 commander of the
idland under Lt Col GARCIA of Panay, EICKOK reports UNTALAY to be not very
intelligent and not relisble under pressure. The present organization numbers
about 400 men divided into four companies with some 90 arms and 5,000
rounds of ammnition, It is able to do little harm to Japanese or puppet
activities and installatlions on the island.

In January 1944, UNTATAN met the Junior BC of Marindugue, Lt Rudolpho
TECSON. They agrred not to molest each other and TECSON IS believed to be
cooperating with the guerrillas.

Staff of Marinduque guerrillas under UNTALAN in March 1944:

Command ing Officer Capt Sofronio T UNTALAY
Executive Officer Lt Jum B CARYAO

€C "A" Comapny 2D Lt Arturo MAMRIL

CC "B" Company Santiago OLIVES

CC "G" Company 3D Lt Bernardo SARILE

CC "D" Company D Lt Paterno CONSTANTINO

Reprts of March - April 1944 igdicate that UNTALAN may have taken
over cormand of the Romblons.

ROMELON:

Guerrilly organization in the Romblons has been weak and relatively
unimportent. It has been under the control of the 6th M) in Panay since
1942, and its chief impprtance has been as a base for Intelligence penotra-
tion into Luzon, during most of 1943,

Capt Constantino C RAVAL, a former Captain of the Philippine Merchant
Marine and at one time dn the emplou of the Amy Transport Service, is known
%0 have been working for the 6lst Divieion, PA, USAFFE, on Penay as early
as March 1942, and in November 1942 organized the first guerrilla oreanization
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in the Romblons, probably for FERALTA, who wae at that time developing his
Panay organization. In Februarv 1943 PERALTA removed RAVAL from the Rohblon
Comnand for incompetence, replacing him with Lt Col (then Major) Enrique

L JURADO. Hie further movements are not exactly mown, but it is certain
fthat he has since acted as an intelligence agent for FERALTA in Manila.

Ho was reprted shot in an affray at the Malacenan Palace in mid-1944.

JURADO was pheed in commandof the Fomblons by FERALTA in February
1943, chlefly for the purpose of malhdaining a base and radlo meseage
center for FERALTA's intelligence channels to southern Luzon. Capt Mario
GUARINIA, & former attorney of Guimbal, may have had pretensions to the
guerrilla command; at any rate he was JURADO's executive after February
1643, The organization is Teported to lve been weak and inofficient; the of=
ficers were lazy, there was considersble commendeering of goods from civi-
1ians, and 1loose control of officers and men from thetop. GUARINIA ie reported
to be a politician closely allied with Lt Col GARCIA in northern Panay snd
concerned mostly with his own personal power andprofit; he did not work
together will with JURADO. 4merican civilian and military refugees were
inducted, and the organization wae expanded to include SIBUYAN Island
in a more closely knot unit than before. Strength abovt 700 in July 1948,

The Japanese anti-guerrilla raide on Fanay reached Tablas in late
Hovember 1943 andSibuvan a week or so lter. Many of the Romblon guerrillae
surrendered at this time; JURDO vas able to eecepe to Mindoro with others,
The guerrilla organizatlon was effec’ively broken up for the time being;
equipment captured or deetroyed. JURADO was made commander of Mindoro inm
Varch 1944, and moved his intelligence center there. GUARINIA remained s
cornander in the Romblons, now attached to the lst Co bat Tean comranded
by Lt Col GARCIA in Fanay.

Reports of March and 4pril 1944 indicate that Capt UNTALAY, comnander of
the Marinduque guerrillas, may have taken over the Romblon command, also
under GARCIA. Guarinia was to have gone to GAKCIA on Penay, but is known o
tave surrendered to puppet efficlals on Sibuyan about this time i gone
to Manila. His motive for this is not known.

Strength of remaining unit not !mown; arme, 13 of all tupes in July

MINDORO;

There was no USAFFE garrison on Mindoro at the outbreak of the war.
With the first Jupanese landings on the island, most of the emall Philiprine
Constabulary garrisons fled to the monn‘ains with what arme they could muster,
and carcied on guerrilla resistence. Some informal civilian guerrilla bands
also aroge, and an unflux of civlian volunteers with additional arms strengthe
ened the constabulary unite. Weaker organizations merged with more powerful
ones, and by Bte 1942, several moderately strong bande had emerged.

Yany reports on guerrilla activities in Mindoro are unclear or ambi-
guous, but it is clear the conflicting ambiti ons of guerrilla leaders
have led to increasing friction between groups and ruve prevented effective
unification of command. In an effort to extend their powers, guerril a leaders
have inducted civilians to a poi t wherc they have been unable to am
feed or pay then, As & Tesalb the civillan population has carried a heavy
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burden; in eome areas willignly, in othre under compulsion.,

Col FERALTA, commander of the 6th MD on Fanay, has treated Mindoro
as one of his epheres of influence, with neither the approval nor disappro
el o8 SWPA. Local representatives of GHQ have also had limited effect on the
development of guerrilla organizations on the island.

OARCIA Group: 1In the latter part of 1942, Jose GATCIA, a clvilian,
Organized a guerrilla group of about 100 men in the vicinity of Bulalacao.
e band wae moderately active until Nay 1943, when a report indicated it
bad been partially dlsbanded, In July 1943, GARCIA place all of the force
1eft to him under the command of Capt Estetan P. BELONCIO.

BOMERIUS Group: 4 resident of Tamaraw Junction named ROMFRIUS,
Doesible the former Chief of Policeof Sen Jose, 1s reperted to have oTganized
a guerrilla band in mid-1942, andto have destroyed conelderable enemy
equipment and supplies around Sxn Jose. Heis described as an expert shob,
epeaks Englieh, Spanish and the dlalect, snd knows Mindoro well.

HUFFY Group: Maj Jose M RUFTY, a veteran of 26 years service with

the Fhilippine Constobulary and pre-war Senior Inepector of the Romblon
Mindoro District, Organized a guerrilla force of 60 men, ap rafently all
constabulary troops, shortly after the surrender, Headquarters wae near
Plnanalayan end the unit was reinforced with civilian volunteers to a strength
of 250, about half armed. There was consi dersble friction between this group
and the BELONCIO group, the only other guerrill force of Mindoro of compa-
Table size.

In Novesber 1942, Maj Lawrence H. PHILLIFS Arrived in Mindoro on a
special nigsion from SWPA. Both RUFTY and BELONCIO looked tohim for a
solution of their differences and FEILLIFS, acting on his own judgnent, brought
the two leaders together for a conference at Mamburao in December 1943,

After three davs negotiations, both leaders agreed to a provisional orga-
pization in which RUFFY was nemed Commanding Officer of gnerrilla forces
on Mindoro, with Beloncio as the Executive Officer.

48 leader of the combined Mindoro guerrillas, RUFFY established hend-
guarters near Naujan and lmmediately reorganized the unite into a Bolo
Battalion of four companies at war etrength. As of February 1944 there
were 25 officers and €00 men. With BELONCIO as the Execubive Officer,
HUETY appolnted Lt Gomersindo de la TORFE as Battalion S-2; Lt Prudente Mar
Francisco in the dual capacity of 5-3 and Commender of B Company; Lt DAGUNO
&s Slgnal Officer; Lte VASQUEZ, FORTUS, ANGNUEVO, end PALUSTRE were assigned
ae company offfcers and apparently shifted from on company to another at
various iutervals. Local civilian goverments were establiched in guerrilla
controlled areas, and in the more populated cietricte, volugbeer Home

Guarde were forned. ILiaison yae maintained with Maj FHILLIFS, who gave

the guerrillae al® the assistence he could.

In March 1944, Maj FRILLIPS and several members of hie party were
ambughed by the Japanese and killed and the balance dispersed. The influence
which vnified the guerrillas no longer existed. 014 differences between
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BELONCIO and RUFTY immediately flaired uy, anithe olo Battalion collapsed.
BELONCIO, who had been in close contact with agents from Panay, broke

avay fron RUFIY, Taking with him Compales 4. C, and D, andput the unibs
under the control of the 6th MD on Panay.

RUFFY with cnly Company B under his control fled to theforoste of
central Mindoro. Many of his battalion end staff officere remained loyal
and accompanied him, To strengthen hispepleted force, RUFTY et out to
induct civilians,end 1t ie believed that his force now mumbers 5/400
men 811l in central Mindoro.

BELONCIO Group! In 1942, Capt Bsteban P. BELONCIO organized a band
of 250 civiliane with about 150 arme into an aggressive cuerrilla organiza-
ton in the area around Lake Nujan. As outlined above, he jolned forces
with Maj RUFFY in December 1943 andacted as Exccutive Offer of the Solo
Battalion until ater FHILLIPSS death in March 1944, EELONCIO had been in
Souch with szents from Panay and when he broke with RUFFY at the end of
March 1944, his move was supported bv Lt Col JURADO, who ab bhat time
was FERAITA's intelligence representative on Mindoro. BELONCIO remaine
as principal guerrilla c mmander on M:ndoro.

Lt Col JURADO: Lt Col farique L. JURADO was a graduate of the U, 5, NAVA
val dcademy, Clase of 1984, andbefore the var was an officer in the Prilip-
Pine Off Bhoze Fatrol. He had joined tho Fanay guerrillas after the surrander

82d late in 1943 or early 1944 was sent to Mindoro by Col FEPALTA, %o
¢stablish observation posts covering Verde Island “acsage and to esteblich a
base for intelligence penetration into southern Luzon. To provide protection
for these operations, FERALTA assigned a special unit from the first Combat T
Tean in northwest Panay to JURADD. FERALTA has always had an inberest in
Mindoro and may have intended JURADO to coordinate and &bsord the Mindoro
guerrillas into this combat team; it is kmown thot in May 1947 JURADO, while
acting for PERALTA in the Romblons, made some atbempbs to organized 4
guerrillas on Mindoro for Col FERALTA, Some sources report that he wae not
pell liked. He vas idlled in afight with local guerrillas on Mindoro,
Fovember 1944,

JURADO established hie intelligence base and coastwatcher posts
successfully, receiving eome assistance from BETONCIO. After FEILLIFS!
death and the collapse of the comb‘ned Mindoro command, JUEADO entered
fato Mindoro guerrilla affaire via BELONCIO: FERALTA promoted him to Lt
Col and put him in charge of the Mindoro guerrillae for the 6th MD 1ate
in March 1944, RUFTY objected to JURADO's mixing into guerril-a affaire
and ordered JURADO to leave Mindoro. JURADO then appointed BELONCIO
comander of the Mindoro guerrilia forces and the Polo Battalion dlssolved,
with 3 compenies follgwing PELONCIO andone following RUFFY. The bulk of
the former Polo Battallon wae then controlled by JURADO through Beloncio
as Commanding Officer, a new company wae being formed to replace Maj
HUFTY8s B Company. It ie believed that the strength of the Battalion was
600 or more with about 230 ams. A Company in northern 1inioro under
8a Lt Rugl G BELONCIO. Battalion 5-3 ie 8D Lt Claiaio FABELION, and Dat-
tallion S-4 1s 3D Lt Floroante VASQUEZ.
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Late Developmente: In July 1944, Gommander George F ROVE, USNR, ar-ived
in Mindoro on a special mission from SWPA, He place his headquarters in wees
tern “indoro andestablished a radio net b cover Mindoro andto receive intel-
ligence from the Manila area. Guerrilla groups have ~iven him cooperation
and assistance andhave soucht his advice, but RONE has refrained from taking
Part in local political afairs.

Reporte of Cotober 1944 indicated that the KUTFY and the JURADO-
BELONCIO factions have come to blows, Both groups have been advised to
¢ease hostilities andc concentrate their maximum efforts against the common
enery. The advice seems to have been dlsregarded. At any Tate, JURADO vas
K1led by Mindoro guerrillae in Novenber 1944

PALAVAT:

farly in 1942 the Jepanese occupied FUerto Princesa, the capital
&nd only town ofimportance in the province, andbegan the con truction of
an airfield there, using American Bif (largely Navy and Marine personnel)
brought from Manila. Occasional patrols on foot andby 1aunch are sent
%a% © the northern and southern parts of the island, and at harvest tine
pecasional foraye are made to seize the rice crop, tut in genersl the Jepanese
have not bothered to keep areas outeide of Puerto Princess naios control,
Guerrilla activities have been limited o occasi-nal abbuches of Japenese
patrols and, recently, some effort has besn made to procurs intelligence;
Bowever the chief fumction of guerrilla activities in the province has been
Yo keep order, protect civilians from brigandage, and support the free
civil government. In this 1t has been only partly successful, due largely
%o friction between rival commanders, often a product of perconel and
solitical ambitions.

BUSUANGA-COROR:  When the Japanese occupation the mancanese mines
on Busuanga in 1942, Carlos AMORES, & policeman at the mince, secrerses
greanized & resistance force of over 200 men, largely vorkers ot the mines.
In Septembor 1942 1t bacame evident that the Japansee had discovered the

Soon forced to leave by shortage of food and Japanese counter measures.

Yo organized guerril a 1s left on Coron or Busuanga, bus thero wpe thought
o Jeintelligonce ¢ ntacts there, probably in infrequent cntach with i pre-
#2888 sent guerrilla organization on Falawan,

ANONES brought about 100 men to 5ibaltan in northem Palawan when he
was forced to leave Busuanga, ande contimied guerrilla activitios thepe in
conjunction with the COBP brothers. ®e is at present Commandinz Officer
of © Company, Falavan Special Bettalion, in central north Falapan,

COBB Group; Alfred and Paul COBP, American mestizos, ran a cattle
and ranch on Dumaran Islend in northern Palawan before the yar. In 4priy
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and May 1942 they organized a guerrilla Home Guard organization with head-
quarters at Danlig and covering Dumaran Island and most of the northeastem
coast of Palawen. Since the Japanese occupation of Puerto Pricesa civil
government had collapsed, the constebulary had drgely deserted, and the
countryside was disorganized and at the mercy of brigand gange. The

COBZS were able to restore order and set up local forms of government in
their area.

In September 1942 Alfred COBB visited Cuyo Island and made contact with
& numbar of Americn soldiers from the 48th Materlel Squadfon, USAC, who
had taken refuge there. Some of these Air Corps men accompanied AMOFES
to Busuanga, andthen to Palawan; many returned to Falawan with CCBR and
belped in the guerrilla organizatbon. Food ams, boats and supplies were
collected, and plans were formulated to attack Puerto Princesa and liberate
the American PW there. Though hindered by friction with local constabulary
groupe (see below), an organization of 150 men was developed by the end
of 1942, poesibly well supplied with food and trnsportation, though arms
were scanty. Alfred COB® sleo found Gaudencio ABORDO, Governor of Falawen,
in his evacuation place on the west comet of the ieland, and persuaded him
to re-establish a free civil government for the provincé, guaranteeing him
protection from Japanese raids. By December 1943, Governor ABORDO had recon—
vened hie provinciel goernment st Caramay with most official agein active.

Among those who were active with the COBPS were Sgt ANI, a veteran
FC NCO, and Capt. Vicente BAJAR, a dentist from Cuyo and & survivor of
Zataan, who arrived in Cuyo andPalawan in May 194° andimmediately joined
the COEES. He was actlve with the expedition to Busuanga in September 1942,
At present is believed to De with the Palawan Special Battzlion., 4 Lt
CACOLOR was with BAJAR in 1942 and is believed to have been with him under
MANIQUE.

MENDOZA-COEB Group” Higinio MENDOZA, ex Governor of Palawan and a
Captein in the PA Medical Reserve, made efforts to organize a guerrilla
force in thesouthern half of northern Palawan while the COBBS organized
the northemn half, but was defeated by shortages of food and men., In
January 1943 the COBES joined MENDOZA at his headquarters at Tinitian
for further guerrilla efforts. Trouble with Constzbulary groupe increased, a
and there were geverel anbushes between the two fections, one group disarming
the other., The Constabulary groupe gradually gained the upper hand, and in
May 1948 the COBB-MENDOZA organization was forced to disband. Most of
the Americans attached to the group went to Cuyo.

Capt MENDOZA wee left on Pelavan at t:is time, and vas Commanding Offi-
er of & Company, Pelawan Special Battelion, eerly in 1943. Fe yar reported
captured by the Japanese, possibly through the instrumentality of Lt GARCTA
(sec below) in January 1944, and subsequently brought to Manila, Lt Glen
was shot and killed by the Mayor of Cuyo, Pedro FONOE DE LEON, late in
May 1943, in & dieagreement with the American Alr Corpe group on Cuvo.
Alfred COBB hae been evacvated to SWPA, and Paul COBF ig reported lost at
sea in December 1943.
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CGonstabulary Groups’ With the Jepanese occupation of Puerto Princesa
the civil government of this province collapsed, the officials evacuating
o the hills.’ Most of the Constabulary detachments follwed sult, the off—
icers for the most yart evacuating to cemps ‘n the hills. end the men, at
least to eome extent, forming inmbo bandit gange.

Yaj Guillermo MARAMEA, Frovincial Inspector FC at Fuerto Princesa,
evacuated to thehills with his fanily and refused to take part in any
guerrilla activity. Fe was shot ani killed by one of the COEB brothers,
18 gelf defense, at Danlig in June 1945.

Capt Pedro MARIGQUE, former Executive Officer to MARMBA, was commander
of the chief constabulary group active on Palawan from mid-1942 to mid-1943,
His group numbered abowt 75 rifles, and was loosely intorgrated; thogh there
were attempts to coordinate his activities with those of the COBB organiza-
tion, friction increased and by early 1945 the two groups were at odds.
MAIGQUE 1s reported to be aweak charecter, congenial but not intelligent
and not respected by his men; hef printed money in an e~fort to nld the
10yalty of his mem, but was not able to check their abuse of civilien
Tights and comrandeering of civilian goods.

2D Lt Baldomero R, GARCIA, a constebulary officer and a cousin of
Lt Col GARCIA of the 6th MD vas in hiding on the west coast of Palayan
until February 1943, when he appeared at Caratay, He soon joined
MANIGQUE as Wxecutive Officer, but some to have been ambitious for more
pover and did not coopemate well vith MANIGRUE. H e is believed to have
entered into AL4AKLH negotiations with officers of the 6th MD , and w
when Col FERALTA apgolnted MANIGQUE commander of the Palawan guerrillas
in May or June 1943, hie men had a meeting and elected to recognize GARGIA
as comrander in place of MANIGQUE, whom they charged with misuse of funde
and of food stocke.

GARCIA in July 1943 signed himeelf as a lst Lt , Commanding Pal awan
for the 6th MD, In the same month he crossed over to Panay, and &t
1ot return until the Special Battalion wes establiched. Ab that time he
alone refused to recognized the Pattalion authorbty, and continued o
harass their operations. He vas captured by clements of the Battalion
in January 1944, and as of June 1944 was 1n guerrilla concentration camp,
with bie follewers eing usedto procuce food Sor the present organizating,

Southern Falawsn Group: In southem Palawan guerrilla groups eredually
developed in the yicinity of Brooke's Foint, around a nucleus of Americams
In Avgust 1942 three US Navy men and three US Marines escapcd from the
Japanese P camp at Fuerto Princesa, ,nd appeared at Brooke's Foint, where
they joiued hmericans living in a small setblement. The JapaBse abtempted
a ladin: there in October, but were beaten off by a small guerril a forge
orgahized by these men. One of these men was subsequently Iilled by a
renegade Filipino, andthe othrs dispersed to Tawh Tawi in the Sulu Archi-
pelago.
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However, guerrilla resistancewas maintained at Brooke's Foint by

¥r Vens T KERSON, a Finn by birth and a former diver for the US Javy in
Iloilo. With the help of Sgt TUMBAGA, FC, and the sup port of Mr Thomas
EDEARDS, and American planter living at Brooke's point, and of Datu D. M
JOLEIFLI Narrasid, the most influential Moro leader of southern Fakzawan
and ielands © the south, en orgeaization was built up and a local civil
government was established. 4 Bolo Battalion ie organized in villages of
the district to give warning of approaching Japanese patrols.

Reporte indicate that TUMBAGA, as a 8D Lt, succedded KFRSON as commander
in July 1948, perhaps in an effort to convert the guerrilla to an all-Filipino
undertaking, and that TUMBAGA (drowned December 1943) was succeeded by a
Lt ALEGEE,

Marazidad MAYOR, & 1 unbar man from Palabao end Bugeuk Islands, was active
with the organization at this time. He reamins as present commander of the
area (D Company) under the Palawan Special Battalion, and it is believed
that the organization remains weak, ineffectual, and badly in need of arms and
supplies.

Palawan Special Battelion: In October 1943 Lt Ga CIa returned to Baln<
wan from Panay with Maj Pablo MUYCO, of the G-3 Section, 6th MD, who was to
take over comuan? of the area and reorga nized the guerrillas into a Palawan
Special Battalion of the 6th D, A1l guerrilla fisures with the exception
of MANIGQUE (see above) assented, and the battalion was orgenized to cover
Palawan, Balabac, Cuyo and Agutaya, -Cagayancillo, Coron and Busuanga. The
Cuyo group numbers 150, ineffective. Staf’ and organization are ae follows
(early 1944)

Commanding Officer Maj Fablo MUYCO
Executive Officer Lt Baldomero R GARCIA
Adjutant and 5-1 1st Lt Vicente BAJAR
s-2 @D Lt Juan C CONCEFCION
5-5 Capt Alfredo de los REYES
s-4 2D Lt Rodolfo PANDAL
ooy oL}
Headquarters at Caramay, strengths 21 59
CO & Compeny, Hq at Malcampo Cept Higinio MENDOZA 6 148
CO B Company, Hq at Danlig 8D Lt Felipe BATUL 6 128
0 C Company, Bq ot Teytay  Capt Carlos AMCRES 5 130
€O D Company, Hq at Brooke's Capt Narizidad MAWOR 4 82
Service Troops a7 140
Total strength, July 1944: 57 945

Total arms are believed to be about 300, of all kinds. Coverage of
Balabac, Cagayancillo, Buevanga, Oulion, and Coron is belleved o be limi-
ted to occasional intelligence contacts. Dumaran Island is well organized
with local guerrilla representatives in almost every bown, end southern
Fulavan unit also controls he arsa of Alfonso Treise on the wesf goapt.
The ualt is coopereting With co astwatcher parties sens in from SWEA B
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Brooke's Point andDumaren, nnder Sgts FLACIDO and CABAIS, respectively,
Civil government has been maintained, with Datu JOLKIELI named as Deputy
Governor for southern Palawan.

SECTICN VI. LUZON INTELLIGENCE ACTIVITIES:

@General: In December 1942, FERALTA was instructed that "as our
intelligence unit covering the maximum territory you cen perforn great
service'. He immediately commenced organization of an intelligence net
in the Visayas and northwarde to Luzon. The Visayan activities have
already been covered (ese Section II). FPERALTA's thrust tovards Luzon
has been a more difficult venture but the net result both on Lugon and
in the Vieayas 1s striking in the completeness of the area covered.

There are two approaches to Luzon, one via the Bicols andthe other
via euthwestern Luzon and Batangas. Both are equally acceseible from
Panay and FERALTA has been attempting to develop both these channels since
early 1943. Regular courler service has been inaugurated betveen intelli-
gence centers and as radios have become available they are pushed out {nto.
this net.

Eastern Apiroach: To establish the eaetern channel FERALTA used
YMastate as an internediate link. The disputes among guerrilla leaders on
Masbate which have threatened the freedom of movement of agents betwsen
Luzon and Panay, and FERALTA'e attempte to organize these gue~illas have
been covered in SECTION V. Weekly courier has been operating between
the Bicols, Samar-Leyte. Masbate and Panay since mid-1944 and within the
past two months @ radio has been established on Mashete.

PERALTA has also been active among theBicol guerrillas, attempting to
develop cntacts and spheres of iinfluence. The story of thege guerrillas
and FERALTA part in thetr activities is told in the Bicol Reeitance
Movement, CHAFTER IV,

4 6th MD report of April 1944 will give more idea of the extent
and activities of this eastern not on Luzon:

6TH MD LUZON INTELLIGENCE FENETRATION VIA MASBATE
Contact Area Contact Agent

NORTHERN LUZON:

Cagayan Capt ALEORNOZ
Ilocos Lt LANONTE

Isabela Lt VITO

¥ Ecija & N Tayabas Sgt PARRENS

Fueva Vizcaya Pvt GUERRA

VANIIA Lt FUGNE

BATAAN Lt GALAN

CORREGIDOR Lt PABILICO

CAVITE Lt Mationg (Captured April 44)

SOUTHERN LUZON:
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SOUTHERN LUZON:

Laguna Lt RAYOLA

S Tayabas Lt MOSQUELA
Camarines Sur, 41bay, Sorsogon Lt MANAPSAL
Camarines Norte M Sgt FRIVALDO

Total Monthly Operatimg Expenses of this met: P100,000.00
Type ofmoney useds
(Paray) Emergency Currency P 25,000.00
Jap Military Currency 75,000.00

Includes P10,600 aid to LAPUS, MERRITT, SABAT and MIRANDA guerrilla
leaders in the Bicole and to Laguna and Isabela guerrilla unitse.

This network is under the supervision of Lt Col Pedzo SERFAN, CO
of the 2D Combat Team in northwestern Panay. Oapt HONTIVEROS operates
the unit and prepares Teports. The net is working fairly well, repoTting
infornation largely from southern Luson and the Bicols. INo radio contacte
have been estab lished beyond Masbate.

Westorn Approach: The picture on the western approach to Luzon
is more obecure. The center of this network wae Tablas Island, under
JURADO, until the Japanese raided the intelligence center in December
1943 anicapture the equipment and come personnel. From this ceater an
advance radio post had been sent first to Middoro, then to Varindugue
and then to the northweetern tip of Mindoro. This was captured in the
Jepanese Taids in that area in Narch 1944, The two ralds disrupted the
western Luzon intelligence eystem entirely. Lt Col JURADO was eent to
Mindoro in mid-1944 to re-sstablish the center, under the lst Combab
Tean in northwestern Fanay. Progress in establishing the new base has not
been reported, but imelligence was flowins through Panay, when JURADO
vas killed by Mindoro guerrillas in Vovember 1944,

PERALTA's Luzon contacts are legion and his channels parallel and
overlap o a point of confusion. The object has been to intoduce an
element of competition between agente and to cross check information
received. The contacts extend from within the puppet government to Japanese
installations and the street corner. The main funnel on Luzon to the
western channel is an intelligence center known as the intelligence Echelon,
43D Divieion, Free Luzan Area, located in the mountains near Tanauan,
Tayabas. Other agents come direct to Mindoro or to Panay, Capt Ilde-
fonso FERNANDEZ, Aliae E, J. HOCSON, was in command of this unit in March
1943; reported captured in April 1944, 4 capt V. 4. ALAVASTRO (poseibly
alias Capt V. ANDAL) seems to bave gone to Fanay in June 1943 and persuaded
FERALTA to allow him to teke over FERNANDEZ'e position. ALABASTRO returned
0 Luzon and assumed sommand in August 1943. Luzon vas divided into eight
sectors with about 80 men per province in each sedtor. Staff and inown
contacts of this group are the same &s that used by FERNANDEZ except that
FERNANDEZ became Executive Officer to ALABASTRO,

Commanding Officer Capt V. A. ALAVASTRO
Executive Officer C,pt Ildefenso FERNANDEZ
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